
C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
CONFIRMATION HEARING

MONDAY 15 DECEMBER 2014, 10.00 AM
Cambridgeshire County Council – Kreis Viersen Room
Contact – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 452508

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

3. Proposed Appointment of the Police and Crime Commissioner's Chief 
Finance Officer

3 - 36

Membership;  
Councillors: M McGuire, J D Ablewhite, L Herbert, D Oliver, M Fletcher, J Davidson, 
D Over, T Hunt, P Reeve,  M Shellens,  B Shelton.

Independent Co-optees;
Christine Graham and Edward Leigh

Officer Support; 
Ian Phillips
Paulina Ford

Public Document Pack

http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/default.aspx
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/default.htm
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/home




CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 3

15 DECEMBER 2014 Public Report

Report of:  Ian Phillips, Peterborough City Council, Police and Crime Panel Lead

Contact Officer(s) – Ian Phillips
Contact Details – Ian.Phillips@peterborough.gov.uk 01733 863849

PROPOSED APPOINTMENT OF THE POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER’S CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This report is submitted to the Panel following a notification from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner of his proposed appointment to the post of Chief Finance Officer on 3 
December 2014.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

2.2

2.3

That the Panel notes the process to be followed to undertake the Confirmation hearing 
for the post of Chief Finance Officer as identified below.

That the Panel considers the Police and Crime Commissioner’s report (Appendix A) 
and reviews the proposed appointment of Josie Gowler as the Chief Finance Officer for 
the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner. 

That the Panel considers the information provided by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (see appendices A,B,C) and, following questioning of the candidate at 
the hearing, agrees a recommendation to the Commissioner on whether or not to 
appoint Josie Gowler to the post of Chief Finance Officer in accordance with the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 This report is for the Panel to consider under its Terms of Reference No 3 -   To hold a 
confirmation hearing and review, make a report, and recommendation in respect of 
proposed senior appointments made by the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

4. BACKGROUND

4.1

4.2 

4.3

Paragraph 6, Schedule 1 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
requires every Police and Crime Commissioner outside London to appoint a person to 
be responsible for the proper administration of the Commissioner’s financial affairs, 
referred to as the Chief Finance Officer.

The Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner formally notified the Chair of the 
Police and Crime Panel of his proposed appointment to the post of Chief Finance 
Officer on 3 December 2014.

Under the terms of the Act, this Panel is required to: 
 Review the proposed senior appointment 
 Make a report to the Police and Crime Commissioner on the proposed senior 

3

mailto:Ian.Phillips@peterborough.gov.uk


4.4

4.5

4.6

appointment 
 Include within the report recommendations to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner as to whether or not the candidate should be appointed.  It should 
be noted that for Schedule 1 appointments, the Panel has no power to veto the 
appointment.

iv. 
Appendix A to this report includes a report from the Police and Crime Commissioner 
that proposes Josie Gowler for the post of the Chief Finance Officer and details the 
criteria that was used to assess her suitability, how she has satisfied the criteria and the 
terms and conditions on which she is to be appointed.  The person specification is 
outlined in Appendix B.  The responsibilities of the post from the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountability are set out in Appendix C.

The Panel is therefore required to question the candidate in order to confirm she has 
the necessary professional competence to carry out the role. Following the hearing, the 
Panel will arrive at a conclusion on the proposed candidate during a closed session.  

The Panel will then publish a report within five working days on the proposed 
appointment to the Police and Crime Commissioner, with a recommendation as to 
whether or not the candidate should be appointed. The Act allows the Police & Crime 
Commissioner the right to accept or reject the Panel’s recommendations; however, he 
must inform the Panel of his decision

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1

6. 

7.

To assess whether the proposed candidate is suitable for the post and make a 
recommendation to the Commissioner.

Consultation

None

Implications

None

8. APPENDICES

8.1  Report from the Police and Crime Commissioner (Appendix A)
 Job description and person specification (Appendix B)
 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountability responsibilities (Appendix C)

4



Appendix A Report of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 

Contact Officer – Dorothy Gregson
Contact Details – cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk   0300 333 3456

APPOINTMENT OF THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER’S DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

1. PURPOSE

1.1 The purpose of this report is to notify the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (“the Panel”) 
under Schedule 1 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”) of the 
proposed appointment of Josie Gowler as the preferred candidate for the role of Director of 
Finance for the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner (“the Commissioner”). 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Panel is asked to note that the Director of Finance role referred to in this Report includes 
within it the person referred to in paragraph 6 of the Act as ‘a person to be responsible for the 
proper administration of the Commissioner’s financial affairs and referred to as the 
Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer’.

2.2 The Panel endorses the proposed appointment of Josie Gowler as the Commissioner’s Director 
of Finance. This appointment falls under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the Act and therefore the 
Panel has no power of veto over the appointment.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 Under paragraph 6 of Schedule 1 to the Act a Commissioner outside London is required to 
appoint a Chief Finance Officer. An identical duty under paragraph 4 of Schedule 2 and 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the Act, a Chief Constable is also required to appoint a Chief 
Finance Officer. The Act requires both Chief Finance Officers to comply with relevant provisions 
within the Local Government Acts.

3.2 Since I took office on 22nd November 2012 the Chief Finance Officer has been a permanent 
established post within my Office, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, undertaken 
by a member of my team. The position was vacated on 30th September 2013. At this time, the 
Director of Finance and Resources for Cambridgeshire Constabulary (the “Constabulary”) 
agreed to undertake the role and responsibilities of my Chief Finance Officer until a suitable 
replacement was appointed.

4. THE ROLE

4.1 The role of Director of Finance, which encompasses the roles and responsibilities of the Chief 
Finance Officer, provides strategic advice to me on all aspects of financial strategy, financial 
management and risk mitigation. The post holder will play an active role in setting and 
implementing strategy and in supporting the development and improvement of quality local and 
regional services. They will also be the Deputy Chief Executive.  The Director of Finance will act 
as the organisation’s professional expert on finance, and provide support to me in respect of the 
effective, efficient and economic use of resources, delivering the required financial targets and 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 3

15 DECEMBER 2014 Public Report

5

mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk


duties, and on the best possible stewardship of over £130m of public money. They will hold a 
fiduciary responsibility to local taxpayers. The post is politically restricted.

4.2 As a key member of my Senior Leadership Team the Director of Finance will:

 Help to develop and implement strategy and to resource and deliver strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest;

 Be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all material business 
decisions (subject to my statutory responsibilities) to ensure immediate and longer term 
implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and aligned with the financial 
strategy; 

 Lead the promotion and delivery of good financial management so that public money is 
safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively; 
and  

 Be my Section 151 officer under the Local Government Act 1972. 

4.3 The Director of Finance will work in close liaison with the Chief Constable’s Director of Finance 
and Resources, the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, local authorities and other public 
sector bodies, ensuring that the finance function is resourced to be fit for purpose.  To perform 
this role the post holder must be a professionally qualified accountant and be suitably 
experienced.

5. RECRUITMENT PROCESS 

5.1 Previous recruitment rounds using the services of recruitment agencies had not achieved the 
desired outcome in filling the post but had significantly raised the profile of the role and 
facilitated the recruitment of a strong interim.  Therefore, it was decided on this occasion that an 
advertisement on both mine and the Constabulary’s websites was likely to generate enough 
candidates to allow an appointment.

5.2 The recruitment processes met the requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 on appointment of staff on merit. The job description and person specification for the role 
is attached at Appendix A. The job description, in addition to covering those duties and 
responsibilities outlined in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy statement 
on the role of a Chief Finance Officer (Director of Finance), highlights the key strategic 
importance of this role and encompasses the role of Deputy Chief Executive (attached at 
Appendix B). 

5.3 The advertisement for the latest recruitment round generated four applications from a range of 
sectors and professional backgrounds.  Shortlisting of the applications was carried out by a 
Panel comprising of the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, my Chief Executive, the Chief 
Constable and myself. This identified if the candidates had the appropriate experience and 
qualifications for the role. Following shortlisting two candidates were invited to interview, both of 
whom accepted the invitation.  

5.4 Interviews took place on the 4th November 2014.  The Panel consisted of the Deputy Police and 
Crime Commissioner, my Chief Executive, the Constabulary’s Director of Finance and 
Resources, and myself. The Panel were accompanied by a Human Resources Manager from 
the Constabulary.

5.5 The interview and assessment process consisted of the following elements:

 Presentation exercise – candidates were asked to present regarding how they, as the 
Commissioner’s Director of Finance, would drive the business forward; 

 Main panel interview - this was a competency based interview linked to the criteria for the 

6



post set out in the job description and person specification; and

 Consideration of references and vetting.

5.6 The process concluded that there was a suitable candidate for the role of my Director of 
Finance. 

6. CRITERIA USED TO ASSESS THE SUITABILITY OF CANDIDATES 

6.1 Applications and interviews were assessed against the criteria set out in the job description and 
person specification.  In addition to evidence on the applicants covering letter and CV of 
essential criteria such as qualifications, the interview questions were designed to seek evidence 
of experience or research in areas such as: 

 A clear understanding of the role;

 Why they were confident they had the skills and experience to deliver the role;

 Their own principles for good financial management and how they would apply them to 
the role;

 Building effective partnership relationships in particular how these could contribute to 
increasing community safety and reducing crime;

 An understanding of, and approach to, the relationship with the Constabulary’s Director 
of Finance and Resources;

 Understanding of, and ability to challenge and influence, collaborative working;
 

 Organisational behaviours relating to budgeting and financial governance;

 Risk management and approaches to embedding these within the organisation; and

 Understanding of broad public sector context.

7. PREFERRED CANDIDATE 

7.1 The preferred candidate selected as a result of this rigorous recruitment process is                
Josie Gowler.

7.2 Josie is currently College Accountant at Newnham College, Cambridge, having joined in 
January 2012. Prior to that Josie spent eight years at the Audit Commission as a Principal 
Auditor. She spent six years at PA Consulting Group, firstly as a Compliance Officer and latterly 
as a Divisional Financial Controller.  At the start of her career, Josie qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with Deloitte, being promoted to Audit Supervisor during her four years at the firm.

7.3 Josie, as with the other candidates, submitted a detailed CV and supporting statement that 
demonstrated a breadth of experience against the criteria set out in the job description and 
person specification.  This was further demonstrated as part of the interview process.

7.4 Ultimately it was judged that Josie best satisfied the criteria for the role through the evidence 
gained in writing and the oral aspects of the process.  Key elements of this assessment were 
that Josie:

 Is a qualified accountant and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales;

 Has proven experience in financial management and monitoring, forecasting, budgeting 
and modelling;

7



 Has led procurement and bid exercises;

 Has developed risk management processes and monitoring controls; 

 Has developed and managed robust internal controls and working with Audit 
Committees;

 Is a qualified auditor;

 Has commercial and public sector experience; and

 Has been responsible for governance and compliance. 

8. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF APPOINTMENT 

8.1 The Director of Finance post is on a ‘Chief Officer’ equivalent grade with a basic starting salary 
of £79,662 per annum with no additional financial remuneration such as bonus or incentives 
being payable under the terms of the appointment. The post is full time and permanent as 
opposed to fixed term or interim.  The post holder will be entitled to contribute to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme and is entitled to 28 days annual leave a year. Terms are based 
on the Constabulary terms and conditions, as adopted by the Commissioner for his office, the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  This post does not benefit from a provided car 
and as such any business travel costs by personal car will be reimbursed at the prevailing 
casual user rate. The period of notice to be given by the post holder in event of resignation is 
three months and there will be a six month probationary period to confirm the post holder in 
post.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 Josie Gowler has proved herself to be well qualified and experienced.  Josie stood out as being 
an excellent candidate, whose skills, experience and drive will be key to meeting the challenges 
the future brings for policing.

10. LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix B - Job description and person specification

Appendix C - Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy statement on the role of the 
Chief Finance Officer

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

8



Appointment of Director of Finance  
Cambridgeshire Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

Peterborough

Cambridgeshire

9



Appointment of Director of Finance10



Sir Graham Bright was elected by the public as Cambridgeshire’s first Police and 
Crime Commissioner in November 2012 and will serve until May 2016. He is an 
experienced businessman and former Member of Parliament. He has twenty 
years of parliamentary experience working in the Home Office, Department of the 
Environment, the Treasury and Foreign Office. 

Brian Ashton, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, supports Sir Graham in his full 
range of duties and functions. He has a long history in local politics previously acting 
as leader of East Cambridgeshire District Council and twice as Mayor of Ely. Brian is a 
businessman and remains active within the local voluntary sector. 

‘Voice of the people’ 
Sir Graham promised to be the ‘voice of the people’, not the police. He is already visibly delivering on that commitment; 
making effective engagement with the people who live and work in the county a personal priority. This ethos resonates 
throughout the small team who work hard to support  Sir Graham and Brian to represent the views of the public in all  
that they do. 

Sir Graham’s overarching role is to strengthen the link between Cambridgeshire Constabulary and the county’s  
communities. He does this through: 

•	 Delivering an effective and efficient police force.

•	 Holding the Chief Constable Simon Parr to account for force performance and ensuring value for money. 

•	 Regularly engaging with the Cambridgeshire public to obtain their views on policing.

•	 Working with partners including local authorities, health services and the criminal justice system to tackle crime  
and disorder and set the Police and Crime Objectives for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough through the Police  
and Crime Plan.

•	 Being responsible for the Cambridgeshire Constabulary budget and approving the policing element of the council tax.

•	 Awarding Police and Crime Reduction Grants to organisations which support the Police and Crime Objectives.

•	 Working with partners to ensure the efficiency and effectiveness of the criminal justice system in Cambridgeshire.

•	 Hiring, and if necessary dismissing, the Chief Constable.

•	 Holding Chief Constable Simon Parr to account for “the exercise of duties in relation to the safeguarding of children  
and the promotion of child welfare”.

•	 Holding Chief Constable Simon Parr to account for the “exercise of duties relating to equality and diversity”.

•	 Commissioning local support services for victims of crime from 2014/15.

Cambridgeshire’s Police and Crime Panel, which is made up of representatives from each of the city, county and district  
councils along with two independent members, scrutinises Sir Graham’s exercise of his statutory functions. The Panel  
does not scrutinise the Chief Constable.

About us – Police and Crime Commissioners   

Appointment of Director of Finance 311



4 Appointment of Director of Finance 

Delivering for the people  

Sir Graham is required by law to issue a Police and Crime Plan. This plan sets the Police and Crime 
Objectives, the budget and details the Police and Crime Grants Sir Graham has awarded to other agencies in 
Cambridgeshire to contribute to reducing crime and disorder. This includes the funding of work to reduce  
drugs misuse and youth crime.

Delivery of these objectives for the people of Cambridgeshire is the responsibility of every member of the  
Constabulary and Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The objectives are: 

•	 Maintain local police performance

•	 Deliver policing within the available budget

•	 Continue to tackle crime and disorder – with a focus on anti-social behaviour, dwelling burglary, organised  
crime and drugs misuse.

•	 Keeping people safe – with a focus on domestic abuse, integrated offender management, vulnerable people – 
specifically child sexual exploitation and hate crime. 

•	 Maintain the resilience of protective services – with a focus on policing the roads and tackling extremism. 

Sir Graham Bright’s Personal Pledges 
In delivering his commitment to be the ‘voice of the people’ Sir Graham added a series of personal pledges throughout 
the plan. These pledges were created in direct response to public feedback during his election campaign, subsequent 
correspondence and meetings with partner agencies. In the short time he has been in post Sir Graham has already 
demonstrated his commitment to delivering against each pledge. These early achievements were celebrated in this 
year’s annual report and will form the basis of the communications to the public to mark the anniversary of  
Sir Graham’s election.  

•	 Be the voice of the people, not the police.

•	 Work in partnership with the public, partner agencies, the voluntary sector and Neighbourhood Watch. 

•	 Focus on localised policing and meeting local needs. Policing cannot be one size fits all. 

•	 Visible policing, giving priority to front line policing and as much visible policing as possible. 

•	 Increase the number of special constables. 

•	 Improve call handling to see a better and faster response to all telephone calls to the police. 

•	 Focus on tackling anti-social behaviour, burglary and drug misuse. 

•	 Take a preventative approach towards crime working with young people, persistent offenders and  
troubled families. 

•	 Increase collaborative working with neighbouring police forces.

•	 Hold the police to account with a genuine public partnership.

•	 Appoint an Engagement Outreach Worker to learn more about what the public need and want.

12



5Appointment of Director of Finance

About us – Cambridgeshire 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary polices the five Cambridgeshire district and Peterborough unitary  
authority areas through six coterminous policing command units.

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have a diverse and rapidly growing population of an estimated 804,000  
people. Cambridge’s population is increased during term times by the transient student population. 

The county, in particular Peterborough, Huntingdon and Cambridge, is home to a large number of 
London commuters who take advantage of lower house prices and the 50 minute train journey to the 
capital. On the flipside many of the county’s workers live outside its boundaries and travel to work in the 
specialist industry, retail and service sectors – such as agricultural and food production businesses.

The two main conurbations of Cambridge and Peterborough together with market towns and rural 
farming areas present the police force with a wide range of policing challenges. Each area has its own 
individual policing needs. 

In Cambridgeshire 15.5 per cent of the population is of an origin other than white British, while in 
Peterborough that figure almost doubles to 29.1 per cent (an increase of 14.8 per cent since the 2001 
Census). This is primarily made up of migrants from Central and Eastern Europe, Africa and the Middle 
East and Asia.

Analysis of data from National Insurance Registrations suggests Cambridgeshire has among the 
highest numbers of migrant workers in the East of England, while the East of England ranks third in the 
country after London and the South East. The number of languages spoken within Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough now exceeds a hundred. 

The county has long standing resident populations of Chinese, Polish, Italian, Indian, Pakistani, West 
African, African-Caribbean and Bangladeshi descent. It also attracts both transient and residential Gypsy 
and Traveller communities onto both private and public caravan parks.

13



6 Appointment of Director of Finance 

Could you be part of the future?  
In the short time Sir Graham has been in post overall crime levels in Cambridgeshire have continued to fall 
more than the national average. He also welcomed the news that two of the county’s policing areas have 
been ranked in the top ten most peaceful places in the country to live, according to the UK Peace Index.

Chief Constable Simon Parr has made big savings while driving further improvements in areas such as call handling.  
These achievements should not be understated, especially when seen against the background of immense change. 

But there is still much more to be done to make Cambridgeshire a safe place to live, work and visit. 

Collaboration with police forces and other agencies, the commissioning of local support services for victims of 
crime, working with the new contracted providers of probation services, and of course balancing the budget are on 
the ever growing agenda. 

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner needs talented, committed and driven people to help it take on 
the challenges the future brings. 

Are you up for it? 

14



7Appointment of Director of Finance

The role of the Director of Finance 
The Director of Finance will be a critical member of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s leadership 
team. You will be the Deputy Chief Executive. You will develop an effective, co-operative and constructive 
working relationship with the Constabulary’s Director of Finance and will need a strong strategic grasp on how 
effective financial decisions drive business. To carry out this statutory role you’ll need an eye for detail and will be 
expected to run a tight ship putting all the systems in place to ensure constant monitoring. You will be responsible 
for developing and driving forward strategies to ensure the resources are available for the Commissioner 
and Constabulary to meet the Police and Crime Objectives and the Commissioner’s personal pledges to the 
Cambridgeshire public.

You will have a fiduciary duty to the taxpayer with responsibility for securing the efficient use of public funds. Where 
necessary, you’ll need to ensure transparency through public reporting in conjunction with the Constabulary’s 
Director of Finance. 

We need an inspirational senior professional who can deliver in` the long, medium and short term. 

Strategic delivery 
•	 Develop and deliver financial strategy and sound long and medium term financial plans for revenue and capital, 

subject to regular review. 

•	 Guarantee effective financial governance in compliance with professional standards, CIPFA codes of practice  
and legislation. 

•	 Deliver legislative and fiduciary duties set out in section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

•	 Deliver robust budget plans with adequate financial reserves in line with CIPFA guidance and the requirements  
of the Local Government Act 2003. 

•	 Develop and support staff by maintaining the highest levels of leadership and management, coaching and  
managing performance; ensuring accountability and responsibility are delegated to encourage commitment  
and job satisfaction. 

•	 Contribute to effective corporate governance including the arrangements for strategy implementation, risk 
management, anti-fraud and corruption, codes of conduct and performance management.  

Business Management 
•	 Ensure the capital programme and investment decisions within the plans are fully evaluated, affordable and deliver 

value for money. 

•	 Ensure effective arrangements for financial management and robust monitoring processes to assess delivery  
against plans.

•	 Maintain financial records and accounts within an effective system of financial control including financial regulations 
and rules. Make sure financial controls are an integral part of the corporate governance framework and contribute to 
the development of governance protocols for financial management, including delegated authority/powers. 

•	 Ensure the annual accounts are prepared and published in accordance with the law, financial reporting and 
professional standards and certify the statement of accounts and group accounts. 

•	 Ensure all published information covering finance, assets and resources, including strategies and plans, are accurate 
clear, relevant, robust and objective.

•	 Assist in the arrangements for the development of the annual corporate governance statement and the local code  
of governance. 

•	 Ensure appropriate asset management and procurement strategies are developed and maintained along with 
effective systems of internal control including contract regulations. Safeguard assets and make sure appropriate 
arrangements are in place for risk mitigation and insurance. 

 

15



8 Appointment of Director of Finance 

Day to day delivery
•	 Develop arrangements for the preparation of consolidated government level accounts and other accounts, returns 

and grant schemes to meet the requirements of the law and terms and conditions of the schemes.

•	 Ensure robust arrangements for treasury management including investment and borrowing within a prudential 
framework and in compliance with CIPFA’s code of practice for capital accounting and treasury management.

•	 Ensure that the resources, expertise and systems within the finance function are sufficient to meet the needs of the 
business and that the financial skills and competencies of finance staff and officers with financial responsibility are 
appropriate to the discharge of financial responsibilities.

•	 Lead on the financial and contract arrangements for commissioned services, grant awards and funding 
arrangements. Ensure arrangements for commissioning and contract management protect the interests of the 
Commissioner, safeguard public money and deliver value for money. This will involve the creation of systems to 
enable to Commissioner to discharge his duties regarding the efficiency and effectiveness of policing, community 
safety and criminal justice.

•	 Develop and maintain an effective audit committee and ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and 
maintained. Provide support and advice to the audit committee and liaise with the internal and external auditors. 

Further information
•	  The duties and responsibilities are outlined in the CIPFA statement on the role of the Director of Finance,  

available here.

•	 Financial governance arrangements are outlined in the Government’s Financial Management Code of Practice, 
available here.

16

http://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/publications/reports/role%20of%20cfo%20police.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/228960/9780108511332.pdf


9Appointment of Director of Finance

If these statements match your career and personal profile then your next job could be with 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

Leadership
•	 You’ll be energetic, determined and able to inspire confidence and respect at the highest level;

•	 You will be able to operate effectively with senior leaders in the OPCC, the Constabulary and with wider 
partners, recognising the importance of political awareness and sensitivity;

•	 You’ll recognise the opportunity for risk management versus innovation and drive this forward appropriately;

•	 You’ll be able to demonstrate a commitment to best practice in change management and leadership, 
recognising the balance between your statutory duties and the needs of wider stakeholders.

 
Management
•	 You’ll arrive with a vision for what good financial management looks like and be prepared to communicate this 

to stakeholders and partners;

•	 You’ll act as a role model for the finance and wider team members, drawing on your extensive experience, from 
industry, to drive performance in these areas;

•	 You’ll lead by example, demonstrating high standards of ethical behaviour, as well as integrity and respect;

•	 You’ll ensure that the financial function of the OPCC/Constabulary is fitted to meet the requirements of the 
Commissioner, proactively driving performance to meet his needs;

•	 You’ll know how to communicate with all staff and stakeholders and build relationships to aid the achievement 
of the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Objectives and personal pledges. 

 
Influence
•	 You’re a senior professional with extensive experience operating at board level;

•	 You may have operated in or influenced the national picture. If not, you’re certainly capable of contributing and 
influencing national policy whilst representing the OPCC/Commissioner;

•	 You’re credible and influential, but agile enough to meet the needs of the Commissioner, stakeholders and  
the public;

•	 You’ll be an expert networker who recognises the importance of ensuring awareness of all material business 
decisions affecting your business areas, influencing and contributing to the national picture where required;

•	 You’ll have experience of leading a finance function and able to ensure effective financial management of a 
£130 million budget.

 
Qualifications and Experience
•	 Financial Accounting qualification and full membership of a body recognised for the purposes of statutory 

section 151 officer responsibilities;

•	 Evidence of continuing professional development;

•	 Senior level experience, heading a financial function;

•	 Breadth and depth of experience in either, or both the public and commercial sectors.

If these statements match your career and personal profile then your next job could be with 
the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

Leadership
•	 You’ll be energetic, determined and able to inspire confidence and respect at the highest level;

•	 You will be able to operate effectively with senior leaders in the OPCC, the Constabulary and with wider 
partners, recognising the importance of political awareness and sensitivity;

•	 You’ll recognise the opportunity for risk management versus innovation and drive this forward appropriately;

•	 You’ll be able to demonstrate a commitment to best practice in change management and leadership, 
recognising the balance between your statutory duties and the needs of wider stakeholders.

 
Management
•	 You’ll arrive with a vision for what good financial management looks like and be prepared to communicate this 

to stakeholders and partners;

•	 You’ll act as a role model for the finance and wider team members, drawing on your extensive experience, from 
industry, to drive performance in these areas;

•	 You’ll lead by example, demonstrating high standards of ethical behaviour, as well as integrity and respect;

•	 You’ll ensure that the financial function of the OPCC/Constabulary is fitted to meet the requirements of the 
Commissioner, proactively driving performance to meet his needs;

•	 You’ll know how to communicate with all staff and stakeholders and build relationships to aid the achievement 
of the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Objectives and personal pledges. 

 
Influence
•	 You’re a senior professional with extensive experience operating at board level;

•	 You may have operated in or influenced the national picture. If not, you’re certainly capable of contributing and 
influencing national policy whilst representing the OPCC/Commissioner;

•	 You’re credible and influential, but agile enough to meet the needs of the Commissioner, stakeholders and  
the public;

•	 You’ll be an expert networker who recognises the importance of ensuring awareness of all material business 
decisions affecting your business areas, influencing and contributing to the national picture where required;

•	 You’ll have experience of leading a finance function and able to ensure effective financial management of a 
£130 million budget.

 
Qualifications and Experience
•	 Financial Accounting qualification and full membership of a body recognised for the purposes of statutory 

section 151 officer responsibilities;

•	 Evidence of continuing professional development;

•	 Senior level experience, heading a financial function;

•	 Breadth and depth of experience in either, or both the public and commercial sectors.

Person Specification

17



10 Appointment of Director of Finance 

Appointment process and how to apply
The final appointment will be made subject to satisfactory references, medical and police vetting clearance. The successful 
candidate will also be subject to a confirmation hearing of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel, pursuant to  
Schedule 1 of the Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

To apply please email you CV and covering letter to Andy Molloy, HR Manager, Andrew.molloy@cambs.pnn.police.uk. 
Please state why you are interested in the post of Director of Finance at Cambridgeshire Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and how you meet the criteria set out in the job description and person specification.  If you have any 
questions please contact the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner on 0300 333 3456.

18

mailto:andrew.molloy@cambs.pnn.police.uk


  

of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Finance 
Officer of the Chief Constable

July 2012

CIPFA Statement on 

 the role of the 
	 chief finance officer

19



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 1

Following the general election in May 2010, the Coalition Government announced that “we will 
introduce measures to make the police more accountable through oversight by a directly elected 
individual, who will be subject to strict checks and balances by locally elected representatives”. 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility (PRSR) Act 2011 established new policing arrangements 
with a Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and the Chief Constable (CC) being separate corporations 
sole. The PCC is responsible for the totality of policing of their police area1.In specific terms this will 
mean securing the maintenance of an effective and efficient police force, holding the CC to account, 
appointing and dismissing the CC, setting the PCC’s and Force’s budget and precept, commissioning 
and making community safety grants. The CC is responsible for delivering policing having regard to 
the requirements of the PCC as set out in his/her Police and Crime Plan and other statutory needs 
including the Strategic Policing Requirement.

Contents

Foreword	 1

Statement on the role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and  
Crime Cimmissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable	 3

Statement approach and Structure	 4

Principle 1	 5

Principle 2	 10

Principle 3	 15

Principle 4	 21

Principle 5	 24

Appendix A:	Legislative requirements	 26

Appendix B:	Flow chart for Section 114 Local Government 
		  Finance Act 1988 (England and Wales) Procedures	 30

CIPFA is one of the leading professional accountancy bodies in the 
UK and the only one which specialises in the public services. It is 
responsible for the education and training of professional accountants 
and for their regulation through the setting and monitoring of 
professional standards. Uniquely among the professional accountancy 
bodies in the UK, CIPFA has responsibility for setting accounting 
standards for a significant part of the economy, namely local 
government. CIPFA’s members work (often at the most senior level) 
in public service bodies, in the national audit agencies and major 
accountancy firms. They are respected throughout for their high 
technical and ethical standards, and professional integrity. CIPFA also 
provides a range of high quality advisory, information, and training 
and consultancy services to public service organisations. As such, 
CIPFA is the leading independent commentator on managing and 
accounting for public money.

foreword

1	 Policing Protocol Order 2011 (SI 2011/2744) Para 11

The Policing Protocol Order 2011 sets out high level financial 
responsibilities of the PCC and CC. The PCC is accountable to 
the public for the management of the Police Fund which is 
held by the PCC. The CC is responsible for managing budgets 
provided to him/her by the PCC. The PRSR Act requires a Chief 
Executive and a Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to be appointed 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner and a Chief Finance 
Officer to also be appointed by the Chief Constable.

A Financial Management Code of Practice (FMCP) was 
published by the Home Office in January 2012 under section 
17 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 and section 39a of the Police Act 1996. This explains 
financial governance arrangements and the relationship 
and responsibilities of the CFO posts. Within the FMCP is 
a recommendation that the PCC and the CC establish an 
independent Audit Committee. 

Under paragraph 28 of Part 1 and schedule 6 of the PRSR Act 
2011, Police and Crime Panels have to be appointed. The local 
authorities across the force area need to work together to 
establish and maintain the Panel. The Role of the Panel is to 
support and challenge the PCC. It has responsibility to review 
a draft Police and Crime Plan, the PCC’s Annual Report and 
it can also make reports and recommendations. The Panel 
has specific responsibility for reviewing the proposed level of 

the precept (which needs to include the revenue and capital 
budgets) and the PCC’s appointment of the CC.

The PRSR Act 2011 and the FMCP introduced fundamental 
changes to accountability and governance arrangements 
with an elected PCC having responsibility for the totality of 
policing in their area. A key feature of the new requirements 
for accountability and governance is an emphasis on what 
must be in place rather than how it is to be achieved. The 
delivery of the CFO role needs to recognise and work within 
this approach. These arrangements are unique to Policing, 
and their success will depend on building effective working 
relationships. The elected Commissioner will be a very 
powerful individual, but at the same time the Chief Constable 
is established as a Corporation Sole in his/her own right, 
with significant legal, accounting and audit consequences. 
This represents a particular challenge for the two CFOs. 
Without a clear understanding of the respective roles, 
and a commitment to an open and mutually supportive 
relationship, tensions could develop with implications for the 
delivery of the CFOs’ statutory responsibilities.

The delivery and implementation of the principles in this 
Statement need to reflect these changes. Fundamentally, the 
PCC is accountable both to the electorate and to the Police 
and Crime Panel. The CFO to the PCC provides information 

20



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable2 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 3

The CFO is bound by professional standards and specific 
legislative responsibilities. The role and responsibilities of 
the CFO were developed by case law in England and Wales. In 
Attorney General v De Winton 1906, it was established that 
the CFO is not merely a servant of the authority, but holds 
a fiduciary responsibility to local taxpayers. Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 19723 requires local authorities 
including now PCCs and CCs to make arrangements for the 
proper administration of their financial affairs and appoint a 
CFO to have responsibility for those arrangements.

The PRSR Act 2011 under paragraph 6 of Schedule 1 requires 
every PCC outside London to appoint a CFO. An identical duty 
is placed on the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPC) 
and the Commissioner of the Metropolis by Section 127 of 
the Greater London Act 1999. Under paragraph 4 of Schedule 
2 and paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 the Chief Constable 
is also required to appoint a CFO. The Police and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 requires both CFOs to comply with 
relevant provisions within the Local Government Acts. 

A Home Office “Financial Management Code of Practice for 
the Police Service of England and Wales” (FMCP) received 
statutory endorsement in January 2012. This outlines CFO 
responsibilities and emphasises the importance of effective, 
co-operative and constructive relationships between the CFOs 
of the PCC and the CC. 

This Statement sets out how the requirements of legislation 
and professional standards should be fulfilled by the CFO in 
carrying out his/her role. The Statement is not intended to be 

exhaustive and does not negate the personal responsibility 
of finance professionals to ensure that they comply with all 
professional standards and legislative requirements. This 
Statement codifies the key responsibilities of the CFO in order 
to assist those carrying out that role and ensure that they 
meet the key personal duties of the role. The Statement refers 
to CIPFA’s Statement of Professional Practice with which 
all CIPFA members are required to comply. For members of 
other accountancy bodies this represents best practice within 
the public sector. All professional accountants should also 
have regard to their own body’s Code of Ethics as well as that 
produced by International Federation of Accountants (IFAC).

Mentioned within this Statement and the FMCP are a 
number of key documents including Financial Regulations, 
an Information Sharing Protocol and other documents 
providing the overall governance framework. These should 
be continually reviewed to ensure a consistent approach to 
accountability and governance. 

Contained with the appendices for completeness is a 
description of the legislative framework. References to 
the post of Chief Constable in this Statement include 
the Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and the 
Commissioner of the City of London Police.

This Statement reflects the requirements of the PRSR Act 
2011 and other relevant legislation. It will be kept under 
review. Changes to the statement will be published if these 
are required following any additional legislation and/or 
further advise is available on the roles of the PCC and CC. 

	 statement on the role of  
		  the chief finance officer 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable

This Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) appointed by the PCC and the CFO 
appointed by the CC gives detailed advice on how to apply CIPFA’s overarching Public Services 
Statement. Unless otherwise indicated the term CFO in this Statement applies to both CFOs. 

to the PCC to enable him/her to respond to PCP requests for 
information and reports. The PCC CFO is not an advisor to 
the Panel. 

The PRSR Act 2011 and the FMCP is applicable to England 
and Wales. In Scotland policing is being brought together 
under a single body within the Scottish Government.

This Statement on the Role of the CFO applies to England and 
Wales only. It builds heavily on CIPFA’s Statement on the 
Role of The CFO in Public Services2 and applies the principles 
and Roles set out in that document to CFOs appointed by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and the Chief 
Constable (CC).

The CFO occupies a critical position in any organisation, 
holding the financial reins of the business and ensuring that 
resources are used wisely to secure positive results. While the 
global financial crisis and economic downturn have made 
these tasks even more challenging, they have also underlined 
the fundamental importance of the role. Achieving value for 
money and securing stewardship are key components of the 
CFO’s role in public service organisations, a duty enshrined in 
legislation for the CFOs appointed by PCC’s and CC’s.

The purpose of this Statement is to support CFOs in the 
fulfilment of their duties and to ensure that the PCC and CC 
have access to effective financial advice at the highest level. 
There is a ‘comply or explain’ requirement in the Annual 
Governance Statement in relation to the requirements of this 
CIPFA Statement. 

In this Statement, the term ‘Force’ is used to refer to the 
Chief Constable (unless separate reference to this post is 
appropriate) and includes all Force officers and police staff 
under the direction and control of the Chief Constable.

The CFO to the PCC and the CFO to the CC need to work 
closely together. This working relationship is of fundamental 
importance. Both CFOs need to ensure that their 
responsibilities can be fully delivered and assurances and 
information exchanged to fulfil the statutory and professional 
responsibilities of the CFO. The CC must give the PCC such 
information on policing matters that the PCC requires and 
the PCC CFO must have full access to all relevant financial 
information. The details on how this is achieved should be 
set out in a locally agreed Information Sharing Protocol 
(ISP) to be agreed by both CFOs. Continual close working 
arrangements and sharing of information between both CFOs 
is essential. 

The CFO to the PCC and the CFO to the Chief Constable need 
to ensure that the statutory responsibilities and role and 
responsibilities outlined in this Statement are fully reflected 
in local working arrangements and that adequate resourcing 
is provided and delivered to fulfil those responsibilities.

2	 http://www.cipfa.org.uk/panels/finance_director/download/Role_CFO.pdf 3 	 for the Greater London Authority and its four functional bodies (Transport for London, the London Development Agency, the Metropolitan Police Authority and 		
	 London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.) the chief finance officer is not a s151 officer but a s127 officer (GLA Act 1999). For the City of London, the 		
	 Chamberlain’s relationship with the Police Authority is the same that applies to other Chief Finance Officers.

21



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable4 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 5

The Statement sets out the five principles that define the 
core activities and behaviours that belong to the Role of the 
CFO and the organisational arrangements needed to support 
them. Successful implementation of each of the principles 
requires the right ingredients in terms of:

■■ The Organisation;

■■ The Role; and

■■ The Individual.

For each principle the Statement sets out the governance 
arrangements required within an organisation to ensure 
that CFOs are able to operate effectively and perform 
their core duties. The Statement also sets out the core 
responsibilities of the PCC CFO and CC CFO. . Many of the 
day-to-day responsibilities may in practice be delegated 
or even outsourced, but the CFO should maintain oversight 
and control. 

Summaries of personal skills and professional standards 
detail the leadership skills and technical expertise, 
organisations can expect from their CFO. These include 
the key requirements of CIPFA and the other professional 
accountancy bodies’ codes of ethics and professional 
standards to which the CFO as a qualified professional is 
bound. The personal skills described have been aligned 
with the most appropriate principle, but in many cases can 
support other principles as well. 

The leadership team is mentioned in this Statement. In a 
police context, this refers to teams within the offices of the 
PCC and the CC with responsibility for strategic direction and 
control. Operational matters (as mentioned in the Policing 
Protocol) are the responsibility of the Chief Constable. 

The provision of overall resourcing together with financial 
standards and financial statutory responsibilities comes 
within the scope of this Statement. The CFO must be able 
to influence and be informed of all key business decisions 
affecting financial resources, subject to the operational 
responsibilities of the Chief Constable. Each CFO (depending 
on whether they are the CFO to the PCC or the CC) must have 
direct access to the PCC or the CC and their leadership teams.

The Policing Model outlined in this statement is complicated 
by the separate corporations sole for the PCC and the CC. 
Consequently, the importance of being clear in which 
capacity an individual is acting is fundamental. 

The Chief Financial Officer to the PCC and the CC:

1	 is a key member of the Leadership Team, helping it 
to develop and implement strategy and to resource 
and deliver strategic objectives sustainably and in the 
public interest;

2	 must be actively involved in, and able to bring 
influence to bear on, all material business decisions 
(subject to the operational responsibilities of the 
Chief Constable) to ensure immediate and longer 
term implications, opportunities and risks are 
fully considered, and aligned with the financial 
strategy; and 

3	 must lead the promotion and delivery of good financial 
management so that public money is safeguarded 
at all times and used appropriately, economically, 
efficiently and effectively. 

To deliver these responsibilities the Chief 
Financial Officer to the PCC and the CC:

4	 must, in close working liaison with the PCC, PCC Chief 
Executive and the Chief Constable, ensure that the 
finance function is resourced to be fit for purpose; and

5	 must be a professionally qualified accountant and 
be suitably experienced and ensure professional 
knowledge is kept current through continuing 
professional development.

 statement approach  
	 and structure

The Organisation: 
Governance Requirements

The Role:
Core CFO Responsibilities

The Individual:
Personal Skills and 

Professional Standards

1

2

3

4

5

The Chief Finance Officer of the PCC and CC is a key member of the Leadership Team, helping 
it to develop and implement strategy and to resource and deliver the PCC’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest.

Key member of the Leadership Team

The Leadership Team in public services organisations 
takes many forms. Leadership teams in a policing context 
include those of the PCC and the CC. Increasingly, it also 
now includes for many, leadership teams for collaborated 
services. These can cover all aspects of policing including 
frontline services. 

Decisions on overall resourcing for policing, together with the 
setting of strategic objectives for policing, subject to Home 
Office and regulatory requirements, are the responsibility of 
the PCC.

In recognition of the centrality of financial issues to 
organisational success, it is UK government policy that all 
government departments should have a professional CFO 
reporting directly to the permanent secretary with a seat on 
the departmental board, with a status equivalent to other 
Board members. HM Treasury recommends ’It is good practice 
for all other public sector organisations to do the same and 
to operate the same standards’.4 CIPFA fully supports the 
Treasury’s recommendation.

The PCC and CC are both required to have a suitably 
qualified CFO with defined responsibilities and powers.5 The 
governance requirements in the Statement are that the CFO 
should be professionally qualified, report directly to the 
PCC or the CC (depending on the specific CFO concerned) 
and be a member of the Leadership Team. This Statement 
requires that if different organisational arrangements are 
adopted reasons should be explained publicly in the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

Developing and implementing 
organisational strategy

All public organisations face competition for limited 
public funds and have to balance expenditure needs 
against the burden of local taxation. Many will have 
allocated cash limits, while others have tax raising 
powers. All will be concerned to examine opportunities, 
with suitable assessment of legal powers and risk, for 
building income streams, whether through attracting 
external grants, charging for services, or commercial 
activity. Strategic planning needs to be based on an 
understanding of the external political landscape, service 
and regulatory requirements, demand and cost drivers, and 
the need to manage and fund longer term commitments 
on a sustainable basis. Finance translates ambitions and 
goals into a common language, so the CFO must share in the 
strategy development and implementation responsibilities 
of the Leadership Team. The CFO must be in a position to 
provide unfettered advice in order to inform decision making. 
The CFO must also have access to all other members of the 
Leadership Team and ensure that they have the financial 
capabilities necessary to perform their own Roles effectively. 

The CFO must encourage continuous improvement and 
development. As well as having a fundamental concern for 
probity and control, the CFO must be proactive in ensuring 
that change and risk issues are appropriately managed, 
focussed on outcomes, and provide advice on resourcing 
plans for change and development. As a key member of the 
Leadership Team, the CFO must also behave in ways that are 
consistent with agreed values and objectives.

principle 1

4 	 HM Treasury ‘Managing Public Money’ Annex 4.1. 2007

5	 The officer appointed as the CFO must, by virtue of section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in England and Wales,(applied in the case of the MPA, via 		
	 s129 of the GLA Act 1999), be a member of a specified accountancy body13.

22



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable6 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 7

Helping resource and deliver objectives

The CFO might hold different responsibilities beyond finance. 
Whilst these can develop the individual as a corporate 
manager, the CFO’s core financial responsibilities must not be 
compromised through creating too wide a portfolio. Dilution 
and/or overload in the Role of the CFO can result in poor 
financial outcomes. Setting out the core CFO responsibilities 
in this Statement is intended to allow CFOs to assess their job 
description to ensure that their core finance responsibilities 
can be properly performed.

PCCs and CCs engage with partners through a range of 
collaborative or commissioned relationships in order to 
realise their goals. Partnership working and the focus 
on community outcomes mean that the CFO needs to 
understand the financial risks and potential liabilities 
that may impact and have appropriate involvement in 
partnerships’ business decisions. The CFO must therefore 
work, in close working liaison, to develop strong and 
constructive working relationships with key decision makers 
in partner organisations.

PCCs as the holders of the Police Fund and CCs as managers 
of resources provided to them by PCCs have a responsibility 
to operate within available resources and to remain 
financially sound over the short, medium and longer term. 
Schemes of consent/delegation should detail funds provided 
to the CC and conditions under which they are provided 
including purpose, reporting and monitoring arrangements 
and the flexibility to apply funds to different areas. The CC 
has a responsibility to operate within these available funds 
and conditions and will need to determine internal delegation 
arrangements to ensure effective local management. The CC 
also needs to implement reporting arrangements to the PCC 
and should ensure prior approval of the PCC before incurring 
a liability that the PCC might reasonably regard as novel, 
contentious or repercussive. 

Delegation arrangements need to be consistent with the 
separate corporations sole ensuring that funds are only 
delegated to staff employed by the PCC. The CFO cannot 
delegate his/her ultimate responsibility for financial 
governance and management. 

The PCC will need to establish what financial monitoring 
information is required by the Police and Crime Panel. This 
could include information on the annual PCC/group accounts 
and the PCC accounts. The PCC CFO is not an advisor to the 
Police and Crime Panel, the PCC CFO should supply the PCC 
with information to enable the PCC to report to the PCP and 
respond to questions from the PCP. The Panel is responsible 
for securing their own independent financial advice. The PCC 
CFO and CC CFO should consider submitting the Annual PCC/
Group and CC accounts to the Audit Committee for review 
prior to the approval of the accounts by the PCC and CC. 

Maximising public value involves an appreciation of 
community needs, expectations and preferences, and the 
planning process must allow for involvement and influence. 
The internal process to determine priorities needs to grapple 
with maximising service efficiencies and value for money, 
service rationing and difficult trade-offs between different 
groups of service users, as well as between present and 
future benefits. The overarching long term need is to match 
financial resources to PCC purposes and policies, within 
constraints of affordability. Taken with the responsibility 
to the community and taxpayers for financial stewardship, 
this means that the CFO must contribute actively to cross 
organisational issues and to corporate decision making to 
achieve an agreed balance between the available resources 
and PCC objectives. 

Public finance is complex and highly regulated, and the CFO 
must contribute expert technical advice and interpretation. 
CFOs must act in the public interest, even if necessary 
against a perceived organisational interest. This professional 
obligation is given statutory backing, and a fiduciary duty 
is established in case law. In Attorney General v De Winton 
1906, it was established that the CFO is not merely a servant 
of the authority, but holds a fiduciary responsibility to the 
local taxpayers.

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that 
every local authority “makes arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that 
one of their officers has responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs”. This applies to PCCs and CCs. 

The CFOs’ duties in England and Wales were significantly 
extended by section 114 of the 1988 Act which requires a 
report to all the Local Authority members to be made by that 
officer, if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget. Such reporting under s.114 of the 1988 
Local Government Act, or for the MPA, s130 of the GLA Act 
1999 should be made to the PCC, CC and the External Auditor. 
Both PCCs and CCs are required to establish an independent 
Audit Committee and any such report should also be made to 
members of this Committee, and the Police and Crime Panel 
together with the Internal Auditors. 

Before either CFO decides to exercise their S114 powers they 
should consult with the other CFO, the PCC Chief Executive, 
and the CC and seek independent legal advice. As holders 
of the ‘red card’, the CFO must always exercise professional 
responsibility in order to intervene in spending plans to 
ensure the balance of resources is maintained so that the 
PCC and the CC remain in sound financial health. For this, 
the CFO must have direct access to the PCC or CC (dependent 
on which CFO is concerned), the PCC Chief Executive, other 
leadership team members, the Audit Committee and also 
internal and external audit.

Governance requirements 	 Principle 1

■■ Ensure that a clear Statement is set out on the respective roles and responsibilities of the Leadership Team and its 
members individually.

■■ Ensure that the CFO reports directly to the PCC or the CC (depending on which CFO is concerned), is a member of the 
Leadership Team with a status at least equivalent to other members.

■■ If different organisational arrangements are adopted, explain the reasons publicly, together with how these deliver the 
same impact. 

■■ Determine a scheme of consent/delegation (PCC CFO in consultation with the CC CFO), and ensure that it is monitored 
and updated.

■■ Ensure that PCC and CC governance arrangements allow the CFO: 

	 –	 to bring influence to bear on all material business decisions (accepting the operational responsibilities of the 			
		  Chief Constable); and

	 –	 provide direct access to the PCC and CC (as above), other leadership team members, the Audit Committee and  
		  internal and external audit.

■■ Ensure the scope of the CFO’s other management responsibilities do not compromise financial responsibilities.

■■ Ensure that consideration has been given to nominated deputy provision if either CFO is unable to discharge  
his/her responsibilities.

■■ Ensure the financial skills required by members of the Leadership Team enable their roles to be carried out effectively.

23



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable8 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 9

Personal skills and professional standards	 Principle 1

■■ Role model, energetic, determined, positive, robust and resilient leadership, able to inspire confidence and respect, and 
exemplify high standards of conduct.

■■ Adopt a flexible leadership style, able to move through visioning to implementation and collaboration/consultation to 
challenge as appropriate.

■■ Build robust relationships both internally and externally.

■■ Work effectively with other Leadership Team members with political awareness and sensitivity. 

■■ Support collective ownership of strategy, risks and delivery.

■■ Address and deal effectively with difficult situations.

■■ Implement best practice in change management and leadership.

■■ Balance conflicting pressures and needs, including short and longer term trade-offs.

■■ Demonstrate strong commitment to innovation and performance improvement.

■■ Maintain an appropriate balance between the deeper financial aspects of the CFO Role and the need to develop and 
retain a broader focus on the environment and stakeholder expectations and needs.

■■ Comply with the IFAC Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as implemented by local regulations and 
accountancy bodies, as well as other ethical standards that are applicable to them by reason of their professional 
status. The fundamental principles set out in the Code are integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, 
confidentiality, and professional behaviour. Impartiality is a further fundamental requirement of those operating in the 
public services.

Core CFO responsibilities	 Principle 1

■■ Contributing to the effective leadership of the PCC and CC, maintaining focus on its purpose and vision through rigorous 
analysis and challenge.

■■ Contributing to effective corporate management, including strategy implementation, cross organisational issues, 
integrated business and resource planning, risk management and performance management.

■■ Supporting effective governance through development of:

	 –	 corporate governance arrangements, risk management and reporting frameworks; and

	 –	 corporate decision making arrangements. 

■■ Contributing to change programmes including identifying service efficiencies and value for money opportunities.

■■ Leading development of medium term financial strategies and the annual budgeting process to ensure financial 
balance and a monitoring process to ensure its delivery. 

■■ Ensuring that there are sound medium and long term financial plans for both revenue and capital to support the 
development of PCC and CC plans and strategies and that these are subject to regular review to confirm the continuing 
relevance of assumptions used.

■■ Ensuring that advice is provided on the levels of reserves and balances in line with good practice guidance6. (PCC CFO 
responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO) 

■■ Ensuring compliance with relevant CIPFA Codes including the Prudential Framework for Local Authority Capital Finance 
and CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code. (PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO)

■■ Ensuring that budget calculations are robust and reserves adequate, as required by s25 of the Local Government Act 
2003, and in line with CIPFA guidance. (PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO) 

6	 CIPFA LAAP Bulletin on Local Authority Reserves

24



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable10 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 11

Responsibility for financial strategy

No organisation can achieve its goals effectively without 
proper structures for allocating and optimising the use of 
resources. The centrality of finance means the CFO must 
play the lead Role in advising and supporting the leadership 
team in turning policy aspirations into reality by aligning 
financial planning with the vision and strategic objectives for 
the organisation. 

Within the overall corporate governance and management 
structure, the CFO has direct responsibility for leading 
development and implementation of the financial strategy 
necessary to deliver PCC strategic objectives sustainably. The 
CFO must work closely with the Leadership Team to establish 
a medium to long term strategy that ensures the financial 
sustainability of the organisation. 

The CFO must also assist in the development and 
management of resource allocation models to optimise 
service outputs and community benefits within funding 
constraints and any tax raising limits. In implementing 
these models, the CFO must ensure that the financial and 
risk implications of policy initiatives are analysed and 
appropriately addressed. Models must encompass capital 
investment programmes and annual operations, as well as 
financial targets and benchmarks. They must also take into 
account future commitments, identification of possible 
service efficiencies and value for money opportunities, 
resources available and the desirable levels of reserves, to 
ensure that the PCC’s finances remain sustainable.

The PCC CFO and the CC CFO need to establish working 
arrangements to ensure that both are aware of material 
business decisions being considered and both can contribute 
depending on the decision involved. This requires close 
co-operation and working arrangements to be established 
between both CFO’s to facilitate information and knowledge 

sharing. The FMCP requires a locally agreed Information 
Sharing Protocol (ISP) to be agreed. 

The statutory guidance7 issued by the Secretary of State 
under the Local Government Act 2000 (England and Wales) 
advises that local authorities, need to ensure that the CFO 
and the Monitoring Officer8 have access as necessary to 
meetings and papers and that members must consult with 
him/her regularly9. Whilst PCCs and CCs do not operate 
under these arrangements, this guidance represents best 
practice and the principles of access and consultation should 
be followed. 

Influencing decision making

PCCs and CCs must be rigorous in their decision making, be 
explicit about the reasons for their decisions and record the 
supporting information and expected impact. This requires 
the CFO to be actively involved in, and able to bring influence 
to bear on all material business decisions (subject to the 
operational responsibilities of the Chief Constable) whenever 
and wherever they are taken. 

The CFO must be able to advise the Leadership Team directly 
in order to discharge responsibilities in relation to the PCC’s 
and CC’s financial health and long term viability. The CFO 
must therefore be a persuasive and confident communicator 
with the status and credibility to challenge others, and 
influence material business decisions. The CFO’s advice 
and reports to the Leadership Team must be clear, concise, 
relevant and timely, highlighting issues that the team needs 
to be aware of, and options for action.

The CFO must also work to develop strong and constructive 
working relationships by creating mutual respect and 
effective communication. Providing information and advice 
as a public servant might call on an understanding of ethics, 
the wider public interest, and diplomacy.

The CFO must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all material business 
decisions (subject to the operational responsibilities of the Chief Constable) to ensure immediate 
and longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and align with the overall 
financial strategy.

principle 2
The Local Government Act 2003 emphasises the importance 
of sound and effective financial management. In relation 
to capital financing there is a statutory requirement for 
the PCC to set and arrange their affairs to remain within 
prudential limits for borrowing and capital investment. 
Advice on fulfilling this responsibility is set out in CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code10. This, and the detailed governance 
arrangements is a responsibility of the PCC CFO in 
consultation with the CC CFO. The PCC CFO might consider 
briefing the Audit Committee on Treasury Management 
Strategy and monitoring during the year. 

The PCC CFO has a statutory responsibility to report at 
the time the budget is considered and the precept set, on 
the robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy 
of financial reserves. This duty to report will need to be 
fulfilled by publishing in public a budget report with this 
information. This should be reported to the Police and Crime 
Panel as part of the consideration of the budget and precept.  

The Secretary of State in England or the National Assembly 
for Wales have reserve powers to specify in regulations a 
statutory minimum level of reserves that will be used if 
Authorities fail to remedy deficiencies or run down reserves 
against the advice of the CFO. This applies to PCCs. 

The CFO also has a key role to play in fulfilling the 
requirements of the statutory duty11 to keep the PCC and 
CC finances under review during the year and take action 
if there is evidence that financial pressures will result in a 
budget overspend or if there is a shortfall in income.

Financial information for decision makers

At all levels those taking decisions must be presented with 
relevant, objective and reliable financial analysis and advice, 
clearly setting out the financial implications and risks.

The CFO has an important role in ensuring necessary 
financial information and advice is provided to the 
Leadership Team and decision makers at all levels. 
Meaningful financial analysis and robust and impartial 
interpretation is a key component in performance 
management, asset management, investment appraisal, 
risk management and control.

Although not a specific responsibility of CFOs alone, they 
should be alert to the ‘Wednesbury’ rules12 which emphasise 
the importance of ensuring that when developing policy all 
relevant matters are properly considered. The judgement 
in the case stated that an authority’s action in exercise of 
a statutory discretion would be regarded unreasonable, 
in excess of the powers given by Parliament and therefore 
invalid if:

■■ in making its decision it took into account matters 
which it ought not to take into account, 

or

■■ it did not take into account matters which it should have 
taken into account, or

■■ even if the two previous conditions were satisfied the 
conclusion was so unreasonable that no reasonable 
authority properly directing itself could ever come to it.

■■ In order to demonstrate that these principles have been 
observed it is important that policy decisions and the 
associated advice are as a matter of routine well and 
clearly documented.

 

 

7	  New Council Constitutions, Local Government Act 2000 – guidance to English local authorities, chapter 8 – officers’ roles under executive arrangements, DETR, October 2000

8	 The Monitoring Officer for the PCC is his/her Chief Executive

9	 In Wales the statutory guidance does not include this reference but implies that this should be the case.

10	  The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Fully Revised Second Edition 2009)

11	 Section 28, Local Government Act 2003

12	  Associated Provincial Picture Houses v Wednesbury Corporation (1948).

25



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable12 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 13

Governance requirements	 Principle 2

■■ Ensure that a medium term business and financial planning process is established to deliver PCC strategic  
objectives, including:

	 –	 a medium term financial strategy to ensure sustainable finances;

	 –	 a robust annual budget process that ensures financial balance; and

	 –	 a monitoring process that enables this to be delivered.

■■ Ensure that these are subject to regular review to confirm the continuing relevance of assumptions used.

■■ Ensure that professional advice on matters that have financial implications is available and recorded well in advance of 
decision making and used appropriately.

■■ Ensuring that budget calculations are robust and reserves adequate, in line with CIPFA’s guidance and s25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.(PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO) 

■■ Ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for the purpose, relevant, timely and gives 
clear explanations of financial issues and their implications.

■■ Ensure that timely, accurate and impartial financial advice and information is provided to assist in decision making and 
to ensure that the PCC meets its policy and service objectives and provides effective stewardship of public money and 
value for money in its use.

■■ Ensure that the PCC and CC maintain a prudential financial framework; keep commitments in balance with available 
resources; monitor income and expenditure levels to ensure that this balance is maintained and take corrective action 
when necessary.

■■ Ensure compliance with CIPFA’s Code on a Prudential Framework for Local Authority Capital Finance and CIPFA’s 
Treasury Management Code. (PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO) 

■■ Ensure that appropriate management accounting systems, functions and controls are in place so that finances are 
kept under review on a regular basis. These systems, functions and controls should apply consistently to all activities 
including partnerships arrangements, outsourcing or where the authority is acting in an enabling role.

■■ Ensure the provision of clear, well presented, timely, complete and accurate information and reports to budget managers 
and senior officers on the budgetary and financial performance.

Core CFO responsibilities	 Principle 2

Responsibility for financial strategy

■■ Ensuring that a financial framework is agreed and delivery is planned against the defined strategic and operational criteria.

■■ Maintaining a long term financial strategy to underpin PCC and CC financial viability within the agreed 
performance framework.

■■ Ensure financial management policies underpin sustainable long-term financial health and reviewing performance 
against them.

■■ Ensuring that commercial and collaborated opportunities are appraised and advising on financial targets and 
successful delivery. 

■■ Ensuring that an effective resource allocation model is developed and maintained to deliver business priorities.

■■ Taking a leading role on asset and balance sheet management.

■■ Ensuring that the planning and budgeting processes are fully co-ordinated.

Influencing decision making

■■ Ensuring that opportunities and risks are fully considered and decisions are aligned with the overall financial strategy.

■■ Providing professional advice and objective financial analysis enabling decision makers to take timely and informed 
business decisions.

■■ Ensuring that efficient arrangements are in place and sufficient resources available to provide accurate, complete and timely 
advice to support strategy development.

■■ Ensuring that clear, timely, accurate information is provided as requested by the Police and Crime Panel.

■■ Ensuring that all necessary information is provided to the PCC when the Police and Crime Panel considers the budget and 
proposed precept. (PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO) 

■■ Ensuring that capital projects are chosen after evaluating a fully costed business case complied with input from all relevant 
professional disciplines and can be funded in the financial strategy.

■■ Checking, at an early stage, that innovative financial approaches comply with regulatory requirements.

Financial information for decision makers

■■ Monitoring and reporting on financial performance that is linked to related performance information and strategic objectives 
that identifies any necessary corrective decisions.

■■ Ensuring that timely management accounts are prepared.

■■ Ensuring the reporting envelope reflects partnerships and other arrangements to give an overall picture.

26



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable14 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 15

Personal skills and professional standards 	 Principle 2

■■ Take all reasonable steps to ensure that:

	 –	 budgets are planned as an integral part of strategic and operational management and are aligned with a structure of 		
		  managerial responsibilities.

	 –	 budgets are constructed on the basis of reliable data of past performance and rigorous assessments of future resources 	
		  and commitments, and that policies and priorities are evaluated in an open, consistent and thorough manner.

	 –	 responsibilities for budget management and control are unambiguously allocated, that commitments are properly 		
		  authorised, and that budgets are related to clear objectives and outputs.

	 –	 accounting and financial information systems make available, at the relevant time to all users the appropriate 		
		  information for their responsibilities and for the objectives of the PCC and CC.

■■ Ensure that other appropriate management, business and strategic planning techniques are implemented.

■■ Link financial strategy and overall strategy (PCC CFO in consultation with the CC CFO).

■■ Demonstrate a willingness to take and stick to difficult decisions – even under pressure.

■■ Take ownership of the assessment of relevant financial risks.

■■ Network effectively to ensure awareness of all material business decisions to which CFO input may be necessary.

■■ Role model persuasive and concise communication with a wide range of audiences internally and externally.

■■ Provide clear, authoritative and impartial professional advice and objective financial analysis and interpretation of 
complex situations. 

■■ Apply relevant statutory, regulatory and professional standards both personal and organisational.

■■ Demonstrate a strong desire to think innovatively and to add value.

■■ Challenge effectively, and give and receive constructive feedback.

■■ Operate with sensitivity in a political environment. 

The CFO must lead and encourage the promotion and delivery of good financial management so 
that public money is safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, 
and effectively.

Promotion and delivery of good 
financial management

Good financial management is fundamental to establishing 
confidence in public services and sets good relationships 
with the taxpayer and other funders. The Leadership 
Team collectively needs to set the tone that financial 
management is core to achieving strategic aims, and to 
demonstrate that public money is used well. Nevertheless it 
is the CFO who must take the lead in establishing a strong 
framework for implementing and maintaining good financial 
management. The CFO should have a key role in assessing 
the existing organisational style of financial management 
and the improvements needed to ensure it aligns with the 
strategic direction.

The PCC and the PCC CFO are responsible for drawing up 
financial regulations for application to the PCC and CC. 
These should be prepared in consultation with the CC CFO 
and should be kept under review by both CFOs to ensure 
they are revised to reflect any change to organisational or 
administrative arrangements. They should be reviewed by the 
Audit Committee prior to approval by the PCC. 

Financial management is the business of the PCC and CC. 
When the Leadership Team, managers and the finance 
function all fulfil their financial management responsibilities 
successfully, they collectively create the financially literate 
and adept organisation. The CFO must actively promote 
financial literacy, so that the Leadership Team and managers 
can discharge their financial management responsibilities, 
alongside their wider responsibilities in relation to risk and 
performance management.

Best Value and Value for money

The CFO has a key role to play in balancing control and 
compliance with value creation and performance. Better 
value for money and the identification of service efficiencies 
releases resources that can be recycled into higher priorities, 
without increasing taxation. 

With the foundations in place, good financial management 
will focus on stretching limited resources to maximise value 
for the public service. Value for money (economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness) should be the concern of all managers, 
but the CFO will need to take a lead in coordinating and 
facilitating a culture of efficiency and value for money. This 
will involve approaches and techniques such as:

■■ Assisting the PCC and CC in the measurement of value 
for money, and the identification of service efficiencies, 
making sure that information is available to review value 
for money and performance; 

■■ Advising on appropriate strategies for managing assets 
and stretching utilisation, and the productive use of 
other resources;

■■ Providing leadership and guidance in using and 
developing efficiency tools and techniques, including 
benchmarking, IT, shared services, process analysis and 
cost management, collaborating with others where this is 
more efficient, effective or economical; and

■■ Ensuring the rigorous financial appraisal and oversight of 
change programmes, income generation proposals and 
investment projects. 

Safeguarding public money

The CFO must lead the implementation and maintenance 
of a framework of financial controls and procedures for 
managing financial risks, and must determine accounting 
processes and oversee financial management procedures 
that enable the PCC and CC to budget and manage within its 
overall resources. At the most fundamental level this means 
ensuring that there are robust systems of risk management 
and internal control, that financial control is exercised 
consistently, and that the PCC and CC implement appropriate 
measures to protect assets from fraud and loss. 

The CFO also has a specific role with regard to stewardship. 
This includes ensuring that the governance structures 

principle 3

27



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable16 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 17

codify financial control, internal control, risk management 
and assurance, as well as defining a framework of financial 
accountabilities and reporting. In addition to the CFO’s 
responsibilities to the PCC and CC, a wider role also exists in 
relation to the general public. The PCC and CC are regarded 
as trustees of local citizens’ money, and both CFOs have a 
prime obligation and duty to them to manage the PCC and CC 
resources prudently on their behalf as established in the 1906 
de Winton case. 

In effect this means that the CFO has a personal 
responsibility for the stewardship and safeguarding of public 
money and for demonstrating that high standards of probity 
exist. Strong financial management, accurate financial 
reporting and effective financial controls are therefore 
central to the CFO’s Role. This role was strengthened by the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 (in England and Wales), 
which requires the CFO to report inappropriate financial 
management as well as wrongdoing.

Section 114 of the 1988 Act (for the MPA, this is s130 of 
the GLA Act 1999) requires a report to be made by the 
CFO, in consultation with the PCC Chief Executive if there 
is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced 
budget. Further guidance recommending courses of action 
to be followed when a report under s114 may be required is 
attached at appendix A to this Statement. 

Consistency of standards and transparency in financial 
activities are essential. In this context, CIPFA’s view is 
that the statutory Role of the CFO does not stop at the 
boundaries of the PCC and CC. It extends into its partnerships, 
collaborated and devolved arrangements, joint ventures 
and companies in which the PCC and CC have an interest. 
The CC CFO should oversee the non-operational dimensions 
(i.e. where police powers are not involved) of the Force’s 
participation in such activities.

Assurance and scrutiny

Accountability for public expenditure is a core requirement 
for PCCs and CCs. The PCC has accountability to the 
electorate and to the Police and Crime Panel for the delivery 
of the Police and Crime Plan. The CC has accountability to 
the PCC for the delivery of policing. Both the PCC and CC have 
accountability to service inspectorates, External Auditors; the 
community and taxpayers.

Managing information flows is a key component of the 
CFO’s Role as an ambassador for the PCC and CC on financial 
matters and in building relationships with other PCCs and CCs 

and other stakeholders. The CFO must provide information 
and advice to those who officially scrutinise and review the 
PCC and CC; funders, regulators, and External audit, and any 
group which exercises scrutiny. 

Internal audit is an important independent internal 
scrutiny activity. The CFO must support the internal audit 
arrangements, whether provided internally or externally 
to the PCC and CC, and ensure that the Audit Committee 
receives the necessary advice and information.

Public service providers face a variety of regulatory 
requirements and standards for external reporting of financial 
and non-financial information. . The Role of the CFO in 
external reporting is to meet relevant reporting requirements 
and to apply professional good practice, conscious of the 
needs of users. External financial reporting must be of good 
quality, supported by analysis and documentation and 
should receive an unqualified audit opinion. This will be 
facilitated if the CFO maintains a constructive professional 
relationship with external auditors and inspectors.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (England and 
Wales) and the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 
2005, impose responsibilities on the finance director relating 
to accounting records and supporting information, control 
systems and the Statement of Accounts.

A key feature of the Regulations in England and Wales is the 
requirement for internal audit. Regulation 6 requires that 
a ‘relevant body shall maintain an adequate and effective 
system of Internal audit of its accounting records and its 
system of internal control’. 

The provisions of the Audit Commission Act 1998 in relation 
to external audit apply to both the PCC and the CC as 
separate corporations sole. The requirements of Regulation 
6 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 
apply in relation to internal audit arrangements. The FMCP 
recommends that the PCC and CC agree that there should 
be joint internal audit arrangements including a joint 
Audit Committee. It would be good practice for the agreed 
arrangements to be set out in a jointly agreed protocol or 
memorandum of understanding. The Audit Commission 
is responsible for the appointment of external auditors to 
PCC’s and CC’s in England as bodies subject to audit listed 
in scheduled 2 of the Audit Commission Act 1998. In Wales, 
the Wales Audit Office is responsible for the appointment 
of external auditors to PCC’s and CC’s, in accordance with 
Section 12 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 

Governance requirements	 Principle 3

■■ Make the CFO responsible for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping financial 
records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of financial control.

■■ Ensure that systems and processes for financial administration, financial control and protection of resources and assets are 
designed in conformity with appropriate ethical standards and monitor their continuing effectiveness in practice.

■■ Ensure that there is in place effective and appropriate internal financial controls covering codified guidance, budgetary 
systems, supervision, management review and monitoring, physical safeguards, segregation of duties, accounting 
procedures, information systems and authorisation and approval processes. Ensuring that these controls are an integral 
part of the underlying framework of corporate governance and that they are reflected in its local code.

■■ Address the arrangements for financial and internal control and for managing non-operational risk in Annual 
Governance Reports.

■■ Ensure that annual accounts are published on a timely basis to communicate activities and achievements, its financial 
position and performance.

■■ Ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained.

■■ Develop and maintain an effective Audit Committee. 

■■ Ensure, together with the leadership team, that the PCC and CC make best use of resources and that taxpayers and/or 
service users receive value for money. 

■■ Ensure that appropriate financial competencies are embedded in key person specifications and appraisals.

■■ Ensure the financial skills required by managers are assessed and developed to enable their roles to be carried 
out effectively. 

■■ Ensure that roles and responsibilities for monitoring financial performance/budget management are clear, that they have 
adequate access to financial skills, and are provided with appropriate financial training on an ongoing basis to help them 
discharge their responsibilities.

28



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable18 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 19

Core CFO responsibilities	 Principle 3

Promotion of financial management 

■■ Assessing financial management style and advising as to changes which may be needed to ensure it aligns with the 
PCC’s strategic direction.

■■ Actively promoting financial literacy.

■■ Assisting the development of a protocol which clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities for financial management, 
including delegated authority/powers.

Value for money

■■ Challenging and supporting decision makers, especially on affordability and value for money, by ensuring policy and 
operational proposals with financial implications are notified to and as appropriate, for non-operational aspects, signed 
off by the finance function.

■■ Ensuring that appropriate asset management and procurement strategies are developed and maintained.

■■ Taking a leading role on the identification of value for money opportunities.

Safeguarding public money

■■ Applying strong internal controls in all areas of financial management, risk management and asset control.

■■ Signing the published Statement on Internal Financial Control in line with the Statement of Recommended Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

■■ Establishing budgets, financial targets and performance indicators to help assess delivery.

■■ Ensuring that effective systems of internal control are implemented, these may include financial regulations, 
contract regulations, standing financial instructions, operating manuals, and compliance with codes of practice to 
secure probity.

■■ Ensuring that the PCC and CC have put in place effective arrangements for internal audit of the control environment and 
systems of internal control as required by professional standards and in line with CIPFA’s Code of Practice.

■■ 	Ensuring that delegated financial authorities are respected.

■■ 	Promoting arrangements to identify and manage business risks (except for operational responsibilities of the Chief 
Constable), including safeguarding assets, risk mitigation and insurance.

■■ 	Ensure that capital projects are managed with post completion reviews.

■■ 	Securing the application of appropriate discipline in financial management, including managing cash and banking, 
treasury management, debt and cash flow, with appropriate segregation of duties.

■■ 	Ensuring the effective management of cash flows, borrowings and investments of funds including those on behalf of 
others; ensuring the effective management of associated risks; pursuing optimum performance or return consistent 
with those risks. (PCC CFO responsibility in consultation with the CC CFO).

■■ Ensuring that appropriate measures exist to prevent and detect fraud and corruption.

■■ Ensuring that proportionate business continuity arrangements are established for financial processes and information. 

■■ Ensuring that any partnership arrangements are underpinned by clear and well documented internal controls.

Core CFO responsibilities	 Principle 3

Assurance and scrutiny

■■ Ensuring that financial performance of the PCC and CC and its partnerships is reported to the PCC and CC and other 
parties as required.

■■ Ensuring that financial and performance information presented to members of the public, the community and the 
media covering resources, financial strategy, service plans, targets and performance, is accurate, clear, relevant, robust 
and objective. Apart from operational matters which are the responsibility of the Chief Constable.

■■ Supporting and advising the Audit Committee.

■■ Ensuring that clear, timely, accurate advice is provided on what considerations can legitimately influence decisions on 
the allocation of resources, and what cannot.

■■ Ensuring that published budgets, annual accounts and consolidation data for government-level consolidated accounts 
are prepared.

■■ Ensuring that the financial Statements are prepared on a timely basis, meet the requirements of the law, financial 
reporting standards and professional standards as reflected in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom developed by the CIPFA/LASAAC Joint Committee. 

■■ Certifying the annual Statement of Accounts (PCC CFO and CC CFO for their separate accounts) and the group accounts 
(PCC CFO)

■■ Ensuring that arrangements are in place so that other accounts and grant claims (including those where the PCC is the 
accountable body for community led projects) meet the requirements of the law and of other partner organisations and 
meet the relevant terms and conditions of schemes

■■ Liaising with the internal and external auditor.

29



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable20 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 21

Personal skills and professional standards	 Principle 3

■■ CFOs should take all reasonable steps to ensure that:

	 –	 effective systems and procedures operate to monitor progress against budgets and their objectives at regular intervals, 	
		  and that appropriate reporting mechanisms are in place.

	 –	 that payments, including taxation, are made on time, accurately and in accordance with legal requirements.

	 –	 cash is handled with special care to avoid loss, particularly loss through theft and secure arrangements are in place to 	
		  deal with the handling of electronic or other cash-less transactions.

	 –	 the accounting and financial information systems provide an accessible, complete, comprehensive, consistent and 		
		  accurate record of financial transactions.

	 –	 all financial reports are relevant, reliable and consistent, are compatible with the accounting and financial information 	
		  systems available, at the relevant time to all users, the appropriate information for their responsibilities and for the 		
		  objectives of the PCC and CC.

	 –	 within the specific legislative framework, systems exist to secure the efficient and effective management of taxes, in 		
		  particular to ensure that tax liabilities and obligations are properly reported and accounted for.

	 –	 treasury management is carried out in accordance with CIPFA’s treasury management code and that effective treasury 	
		  management arrangements are in place. (PCC CFO in consultation with the CC CFO)

■■ Generate ‘buy-in’ to, and support delivery of, good financial management.

■■ Assist in the promotion, and development of sustainable partnerships, and engage effectively in collaboration.

■■ Deploy effective facilitation and meeting skills.

■■ Build and demonstrate commitment to continuous improvement and innovative, but risk-aware, solutions.

■■ Place stewardship and probity as the bedrock for management of PCC and CC finances.

Meeting the finance needs of the business

The location(s) and functions of the finance function are a 
matter for discussion and agreement between the PCC and CC 
subject to the legal requirements of the separate corporates 
sole. The PCC CFO and the CC CFO have a responsibility to 
ensure that it is adequately resourced to be fit for purpose 
and each have a responsibility for leading and directing 
depending on where the functions are located. 

A strong customer focus, both externally and internally, 
must be a key feature of the way the finance function does 
business. It must support the broader development agenda, 
by appraising investment options and change programmes 
and contributing creative financial solutions within an 
effective risk management framework.

The finance function must also have a firm grasp of the 
financial position and performance. The CFO must ensure 
that there is sufficient depth of financial expertise, supported 
by effective systems, to discharge this responsibility and 
challenge those responsible for activities to account for 
their financial performance. The resources available must be 
proportionate to the complexity of the financial environment. 

Section 114(7) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
requires authorities in England and Wales to provide their CFO 
with ‘such staff, accommodation and other resources as are 
in his opinion sufficient to allow his duties under this section 
(i.e. s114) to be performed’. This test has to be measured 
against the totality of the resource available to support the 
CFO’s Role, wherever they are located. 

Appropriately developed finance skills

The CFO must promote and encourage financial literacy, 
including championing training and development of 
relevant skills at all levels. However, the CFO has a particular 
responsibility for learning and development amongst finance 
staff in order to ensure that both current and likely future 
finance skill needs are addressed. The CFO needs to ensure 
that the competencies needed by the finance function are 
identified, including specialist skills, and that it can access 
the skills and experience needed to exercise stewardship 
of public finances, develop financial performance and 
contribute effectively to new organisational directions 
and innovation. 

The CFO must ensure that responsibility for accountants 
and finance specialists Organisation-wide is properly 
discharged in order to ensure compliance with regulatory and 
professional standards. To exercise leadership on financial 
matters it is important that Roles and responsibilities are 
suitably outlined and documented. 

The CFO must lead and direct, (as explained in this principle), a finance function that is resourced 
to be fit for purpose.

principle 4

30



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable22 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 23

Governance requirements	 Principle 4

■■ Ensure that the finance function has the resources, expertise and systems necessary to perform its role effectively. 

■■ Ensure that the role and responsibilities of the CFO, are suitably outlined and documented. 

Core CFO responsibilities	 Principle 4

■■ Ensuring that the finance function makes a full contribution to and meets the needs of the business. 

■■ Ensuring that the resources, expertise and systems for the finance function are sufficient to meet business needs and 
negotiating these within the overall financial framework.

■■ Ensuring that robust processes for recruitment of finance staff are implemented and/or outsourcing of functions.

■■ Reviewing the performance of the finance function and ensuring that the services provided are in line with the 
expectations and needs of its stakeholders.

■■ Seeking continuous improvement in the finance function.

■■ Ensuring that finance staff, managers and the Leadership Team are equipped with the financial competencies and 
expertise needed to manage the business both currently and in the future.

■■ Ensuring that responsibility for all finance staff is properly discharged.

■■ Acting as the final arbiter on application of professional standards.

Personal skills and professional standards	 Principle 4

■■ Ensure a vision is created and communicated for the finance function. 

■■ Role model a customer focussed culture. 

■■ Promote an open culture, built on effective coaching and a “no blame” approach.

■■ Promote effective communication between the finance department, PCC and with external stakeholders. 

■■ Apply strong project planning and process management skills.

■■ Set and monitor meaningful performance objectives for the finance team. 

■■ Role model, as required, for effective staff performance management.

■■ Coach and support staff, as required, in both technical and personal development.

■■ Promote high standards of ethical behaviour, probity, integrity and honesty.

■■ Ensure, when necessary, that outside expertise is called upon for specialist advice not available within the 
finance function.

■■ Promote discussion on current financial and professional issues and their implications.

31



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable24 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 25

The CFO must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced.

Demonstrating professional and 
interpersonal skills

The CFO must be able to demonstrate their own professional 
standing to exercise financial leadership. As a member 
of a professional body, the CFO’s skills, knowledge and 
expertise will have been tested by examination and must 
be continuously developed in a structured and monitored 
context. The CFO must adhere to the professional values 
of accuracy, honesty, integrity, objectivity, impartiality, 
transparency and reliability and promote these throughout 
the finance function.13 

The CFO must communicate complex financial information 
in a clear and credible way. They should be able to 
operate effectively in different modes including directing, 
influencing, evaluating and informing. The CFO must also 
have the confidence to give impartial and objective advice 
even if it may be unwelcome, and be sufficiently forceful to 
intervene with authority if financial or ethical principles need 
to be asserted or defended.

The officer appointed as the CFO must, by virtue of section 
113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in England 
and Wales, be a member of a specified accountancy body14. 
This requirement is applied to the MOPC via s129 of the GLA 
Act 1999. 

Applying business and professional experience

The CFO must have an understanding and commitment 
to the wider business, looking beyond narrow financial 
objectives, to inspire respect, confidence and trust amongst 
colleagues, inspectors and stakeholders. In practice this 
means being creative and constructive in strategic Roles 
and effective in management responsibilities, with a sound 
grasp of approaches such as performance management and 
project leadership.

The CFO must understand how and when to apply the tools 
and techniques of financial analysis in support of business 
decisions in order to evaluate proposals and to offer well 
founded and expert advice. Such techniques include strategic 
analysis, review of sector best practice, benchmarking, option 
appraisal, performance measurement, and risk assessment. 
However data is not always clear cut and the CFO must also 
be able to apply judgement to imperfect information.

The CFO must have a good understanding of public sector 
finance and its regulatory environment and comply with 
standards formulated through rigorous due process in 
support of the public interest to support the Leadership Team 
effectively. The CFO must also have a good understanding of 
the principles of financial management, and personally set a 
tone for the PCC and CC that finance matters and is a key part 
of everyone’s job. 

13 IFAC: Code of Ethics, 2005

14	 Defined to mean a qualified member of one of the six bodies comprising the Consultative Committee of Accountancy Bodies (CCAB) in the UK and Ireland, that is
	 – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
	 – The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
	 – The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
	 – The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
	 – Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
	 – The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Governance requirements	 Principle 5

■■ Appoint as an employee, or engage under a contract for services, a professionally qualified CFO whose core 
responsibilities include those set out under the other principles in this Statement and ensure that these are properly 
understood. 

■■ Ensure that the CFO has the skills, knowledge, experience and resources to perform effectively in both the financial and 
non-financial areas of their role.

Personal skills and professional standards	 Principle 5

■■ Be a member of an accountancy body recognised by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), qualified 
through examination, and subject to oversight by a professional body that upholds professional standards and exercises 
disciplinary powers.

■■ Adhere to international standards set by IFAC on:

	 –	 Ethics

	 –	 Continuing Professional Development.

■■ Demonstrate IT literacy.

■■ Have relevant prior experience of financial management in the public services or private sector.

■■ Understand public service finance and its regulatory environment. 

■■ Apply the principles of corporate finance, economics, risk management and accounting. 

■■ Understand personal and professional strengths. 

■■ Undertake appropriate development or obtain relevant experience in order to meet the requirements of the non-financial 
areas of the role.

principle 5

32



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable26 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 27

SECTION 151 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 
1972 – ENGLAND AND WALES

This section requires that every local authority in England 
and Wales (this now includes PCC’s and CCs) should

“make arrangements for the proper administration of their 
financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has 
responsibility for the administration of those affairs”.

The words “proper administration” are not statutorily defined 
nor have they received judicial consideration. Section 58 
of the Local Government Act 1958 had somewhat narrower 
wording requiring authorities to make “safe and efficient” 
arrangements for the receipt and payment of money.

■■ “proper administration” requires a somewhat wider 
consideration of all aspects of PCC and CC financial 
management and should include:

■■ compliance with the statutory requirements for 
accounting and Internal audit

■■ ensuring the PCC’s and CC’s responsibility for securing 
proper administration of its financial affairs (Lloyd v 
McMahon (1982) AC 625)

■■ proper exercise of a wide range of delegated powers both 
formal and informal (Provident Mutual Life Assurance 
Association v Derby City Council (1981) 1 WCR 173)

■■ responsibility for managing the financial affairs of the 
PCC and CC in all its dealings

■■ recognition of the fiduciary responsibility owed to local 
taxpayers (Attorney General v De Winton (1906) 2 CH 106).

This view is strengthened by Section 113 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 which requires the responsible 
officer under Section 151 of the 1972 Act to be a member of a 
specified accountancy body.

 

SECTION 114 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
FINANCE ACT 1988 – ENGLAND AND WALES

The responsible officer under Section 151 of the 1972 Act 
had his or her duties significantly extended by Section 114 
of the 1988 Act which requires a report in the case of local 
government to all the Authority’s members to be made by 
that officer, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, 
if there is, or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget. 

For PCCs and CCs a s114 report would be made to the 
PCC/CC and the External Auditor. Members of the Audit 
Committee should also be informed along with the PCC/CC 
Internal Auditor. The PCC CFO and the CC CFO both have this 
responsibility in relation to their corporations sole. If either 
of the CFOs intend to exercise their statutory powers under 
s114 they should inform the other (as well as the CE) as soon 
as possible. 

Introduction
Section 114 (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
places a duty on the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) as defined 
in that subsection to report certain matters to the authority 
(this now includes PCCs and CCs). Serious consequences 
could follow making such a report and this note recommends 
sound procedures and consultation with the PCC, PCC Chief 
Executive and CC prior to making the report.

The duty of the CFO to report is triggered if s(he) believes that 
a decision involves (or would involve) unlawful expenditure, 
a course of action is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss 
or deficiency.

In those circumstances the CFO is required to make a report 
and send a copy to the PCC, the CC and the External Auditor. 
The course of conduct which led to the report must not be 
pursued until the report has been considered. The PCC and 
the CC must consider the report within 21 days and decide 
whether they agree or disagree with the views in the report 
and what action it is proposed to take.

Likewise the CFO must report where it is believed that PCC’s 
expenditure including that of the CC is likely to exceed 
available resources. The PCC and CC is prevented from 
entering into any agreements incurring expenditure until 
the report has been considered. This report should also be 
submitted to the External Auditor. 

When the CFO issues a report, the CFO should also keep 
members of the Audit Committee informed along with the 
Police and Crime Panel and Internal Auditor. 

All action in respect of such a report must be suspended until 
the PCC and the CC has considered the report. The PCC/CC 
must provide a report to the CFO and the External Auditor, 
explaining what action, if any, is to be taken and the reasons.

This guidance is intended to assist in the provision of sound 
legal (and financial) advice but in the last analysis the duty to 
report is placed on the CFO and nothing in this note derogates 
from that responsibility.

The legislation raises issues that could place the CFO in 
conflict with his or her employers. The consequences of 
submitting a report are unlikely to be in the long term 
interests of the PCC/CC, and its officers. The need to issue 
a s114 report would indicate that there are underlying 
problems with the overall performance of the PCC/CC.  
Every action should be taken to avoid conflict by providing 
timely advice and where possible offering alternative lawful 
solutions on financial matters. However, at the end of the day 
section 114 imposes a statutory duty on the CFO.

Preliminary matters
The origin of information giving rise to consideration of 
the need for a report could be the CFO’s staff, the PCC/
CC or someone from within the PCC’s office, the Force, an 
officer, a member of the public or an Auditor, or inspector. 
The attention of the PCC/CC and all staff should be drawn 
to the duty of the CFO and to his or her responsibility for 
signalling possible subjects for investigation which may 
lead to a formal report. The topic should also be included in 
training programmes.

Making a report under sections 114 (2) and 114A(2) requires 
the CFO to make a decision that an act or omission is or could 
be unlawful; this decision should only be taken after full 
consultation with the PCC, PCC Chief Executive and the CC 
whereas a report under section 114 (3) requires a financial 
judgement on (essentially) the budget which the CFO could 
take alone though the CFO is nonetheless required by law 
to consult because other corporate and legal issues may 
well flow from the report and because there may be overlaps 
with the duty to report about unlawfulness under the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 section 5.

Circumstances of a developing situation (for example, 
shortage of budget resources or a prospective unlawful 
act) should be distinguished from the imminent or actual 
situation. Timing of a report will need careful thought 
and decision.

There may well be occasions when the CFO will be asked for 
a view on matters which are under consideration but which if 
developed might lead to a report. A mere preliminary enquiry 
or request should not lead to a formal report under the Act. If 
the situation develops the need to report must be reviewed.

It is not considered that the provisions of sections 114 (2) and 
114A (2) relate to cases of discovered fraud (which could be 
the subject of criminal prosecution) – these should normally 
be dealt with under financial regulations.

A decision will be needed whether to report or not on items 
which could be regarded as outside sections 114 (2) and 114 
A (2) such as trivial expenditure or loss of income although 
there may on occasions be circumstances in which such a 
report may be justified.

In the case of action under section 114 (3) the need for a 
report arises where a PCC/CC’s total resources fall short of 
likely expenditure. It does not apply where, say, the CC’s 
budget is overspent but can be funded from the reserves/ 
budget held by the PCC.

 legislative 
	 requirements

Appendix A

33



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable28 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 29

Recommended Procedures
Having regard to the circumstances and the preliminary 
matters mentioned above the procedure for a report under 
section 114 (2) or 114 A (2) – an unlawful act or omission – is 
suggested as follows

■■ consult with the PCC, PCC Chief Executive and CC on the 
issue of unlawfulness

■■ if there is disagreement or doubt, the CFO should ask for 
Opinion of Counsel to be obtained

■■ if there is still disagreement after Counsel’s Opinion, the 
PCC CE may provide assistance on procedures but CEs 
should not normally substitute their own advice, even 
where legally or financially qualified.

Under section 114 (3) where the matter is an unbalanced 
budget – real or potential – the CFO is in a better position to 
come to a decision unaided.  However it is recommended 

■■ an informal indication is given by the CFO at a very 
early stage and an attempt made to get immediate 
remedial action

■■ the likelihood of a report under section 114 (3) 
should be made known to the PCC/CC at the earliest 
practicable opportunity

■■ the CFO should consider informal consultation with the 
Internal and External Auditor

■■ at this point the CFO has to decide the course of action. If 
it is decided to proceed, go to next stage.

Where the CFO decides there is a case for a report

■■ if the action or expenditure is potential or prospective the 
CFO should draft a report stating the facts and reasons 
and discuss with the PCC, PCC CE and CC how to obviate 
the need for the report by remedial action. If successful 
the matter will rest

■■ where action as above is not successful, or where the act 
or expenditure has already happened, the CFO should 
draft a report as above in consultation with the PCC, PCC 
CE and CC. The report should clearly state that it is made 
under the relevant sub-section of section 114 or section 
114 (A) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and 
the consequences. The CFO then ‘makes’ the report by 
signing it personally

■■ the statutory duty to make a report and send a copy to 
the PCC/CC and the External Auditor rests on the CFO.  The 
Act does not say when a report is to be sent but implies it 
should be sent as soon as reasonably practicable 

■■ where a decision is about to or has been made involving 
unlawful expenditure, a loss or deficiency or an unlawful 
item of account, the CFO must report to the PCC/CC and 
the External Auditor

■■ reports are likely to be made in highly contentious 
circumstances and as such could be the target for legal 
challenge. They must therefore be subject to most 
careful drafting, rehearsing all relevant matters and 
arguments besides clearly advising as to the options or 
decisions sought.

Whatever the decision, the CFO must have taken all 
steps necessary to arrive at and justify that decision. The 
CFO should ensure that there is a proper record of the 
considerations leading to the decision.

The PCC/CC must consider within 21 days the CFO’s report 
and until it does so it must take no action on the decision 
which is the subject of the report. After considering the 
report, the PCC/CC must prepare a report which specifies what 
action (if any) has been taken in response, what action it is 
proposed to take in response and when it proposes to take 
that action and the reasons for taking the action. A copy of 
that report must be sent to the External Auditor.

Other Matters
Once the CFO has sent the report addressed to the PCC/
CC and to the External Auditor, his/her reporting duty has 
been completed. If the PCC/CC acts positively on the report, 
well and good; if not, any further formal action is to be 
taken by the External Auditor pursuant to section 6 of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998 or by the issue of an ‘advisory 
notice’ under section 19A or by applying to the Court for a 
declaration under section 17 of the 1998 Act. 

The authority’s standing orders and financial regulations 
should be compatible with the reporting procedures. 

In the light of these provisions it is clearly essential that all 
reports, containing financial matters should be cleared with 
the CFO. The CFO should also have access to all decision 
records and minutes.

The 1988 Act requires the PCC/CC to provide the CFO with 
sufficient resources to carry out there duties.  These would 
include the cost of obtaining advice and resources outside the 
authority if required.

The CFO’s duties must be carried out by him or her personally 
and it is recommended that he or she agrees with the PCC/CC 
the arrangements to be put in place for someone to act in his/
her absence or when (s)he is ill under section 114(6).

The activities of companies set up by PCC/CC’s appear to be 
outside the present legislation for section 114/114A reports.

Where a report has been made under section 114(3), 
arrangements need to be made to inform all persons, who 
have delegated authority to enter commitments, that such 
powers are suspended during the prohibition period.

34



CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable30 CIPFA | Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Finance Officer of the Chief Constable 31

Flow chart for Section 114 Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (England and Wales) Procedures

(YES)

ACTION OR PAYMENT
POSSIBLY ILLEGAL

LIKELY CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

LIKELY REVENUE EXPENDITURE
EXCEEDS LIKELY RESOURCES

(THIS YEAR)(THIS YEAR) (A FUTURE YEAR)

NOTIFY PCC/CC SEEK CORRECTIVE ACTION 
FOR YEAR IN QUESTION

(NOT SUCCESSFUL) (SUCCESSFUL)

CFO DRAFTS 
PART VIII REPORT

NO ACTION

CONSULT WITH PCC, PCC CE AND CC

CFO 'MAKES' (SIGNS) REPORT

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO PCC/CC AND THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS 
(ANY NEW AGREEMENT TO SPEND IS HALTED)

MATTER COMES TO THE ATTENTION OF THE CFO

AFTER THE EVENT POTENTIAL

CONFER WITH CLO/MO/CE
WAS IT LAWFUL?

CONFER WITH PCC, PCC CE
AND CC WOULD IT BE LAWFUL?

(NO)UNCERTAIN (YES)

NOTIFY
PCC/CC

GET  LEGAL
OPINION

NO ACTION

GET LEGAL
OPINION

NOTIFY PCC, 
PCC CE AND CC

TRY TO GET 
IT STOPPED

NO ACTION

(NO)

(NO) (YES)
CFO 

DRAFTS
PART VIII 

REPORT
(SUCCESSFUL)(NOT

SUCCESSFUL)

NO ACTIONNO ACTION

AGREE REPORT WITH PCC/CC 
(AND LEGAL ADVISOR IF NECESSARY)

REPORT SENT BY CFO TO 
PCC/CC AND EXTERNAL AUDITOR

CFO ‘MAKES’ (SIGNS) REPORT

NO ACTION

PCC/CC MUST CONSIDER REPORT WITHIN 21 DAYS

HOLD MEETING TO CONSIDER REPORT

AGREE REPORT
DECIDE REMEDIAL ACTION

DISAGREE REPORT
- NO ACTION

CFO NOTIFIES EXTERNAL AUDITOR OF DECISION

PROHIBITION PERIOD ENDS NEXT DAY

(A FUTURE YEAR)

PROHIBITION PERIOD BEGINS 
(THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION IS HALTED)

(NO)UNCERTAIN (YES)

Appendix B

35



Registered office:
3 Robert Street, London WC2N 6RL

T: 020 7543 5600 F: 020 7543 5700
www.cipfa.org

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 
Registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060

Registered with the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator No SCO37963

36


	Agenda
	3 Proposed Appointment of the Police and Crime Commissioner's Chief Finance Officer
	3. Appendix A - Report from the Police and Crime Commissioner of Appointment of Director of Finance - CPCP - 141215
	3. Appendix B - job description and person specification for Chief Financial Officer
	3. Appendix C - CIPFA OPCC CFO Responsibilities


